## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

## ALPHA-2C ADRENOCEPTOR PROMOTES THE MALIGNANT PHENOTYPE OF HUMAN COLON CANCER CELLS

by RACHEL MICHEL NJEIM

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon May 2018

## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

# ALPHA-2C ADRENOCEPTOR PROMOTES THE MALIGNANT PHENOTYPE OF HUMAN COLON CANCER CELLS

by

## RACHEL MICHEL NJEIM

Approved by:

Dr. Ali H. Eid Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Advisor

Committee Member of

Dr. Assaad Eid Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiology

Dr. Nathalie Khoueiry-Zgheib Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Dr. Fouad Zouein Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Date of thesis defense: May 8, 2018

### AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

### THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Master's Thesis Dissertation

Master's Project

Doctoral

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes

after : One ---- year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Three ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

May 14, 2018

Signature

Date

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

After an intensive period of 9 months, I would like to reflect on the people who have supported me, not only during the course of this project, but throughout my Master's degree.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, **Dr. Ali Eid**, who over the past year has provided me with the resources and tools to bring this project to completion. Thank you for your extensive professional and personal guidance that has pushed my thinking forward and shaped my work in significant ways. From you, I have learned a great deal about both scientific research and life in general. I am particularly indebted to you for your unending motivation and tremendous academic support. This dissertation would have not been possible without your expertise and passionate attitude.

I would also like to thank my lab members, **Dr. Khodr Issa**, **Manal Fardon**, **Sara Naji**, **Dina Maaliki**, **Lina Hamadeh**, and **Farah Shaer**. Your company and support made the research process that much more enjoyable. Thank you for always standing by me and for your thoughtful feedback about my work.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the Pharmacology members and staff. Each and every one of them contributed in their own way to this project, whether it was through effective mentoring or emotional support. I would like to specifically thank **Dr. Ramzi Sabra**, chairperson of the Pharmacology & Toxicology department, and **Dr. Ahmad El Yazbi** for your keen and interest and professional guidance. I would also like to thank my committee members, **Dr. Nathalie Zgheib, Dr. Fouad Zouein** and **Dr. Assaad Eid** for your great support and invaluable advice.

My deepest gratitude is to **Dr. Assaad Eid**, who has always been supportive of my career goals and has worked actively to help me pursue these goals. Your passionate encouragement and valuable guidance were a great help throughout the course of this work. You have always taught me how to excel in what I do. You have taught me more than I could ever give you credit for here. Thank you for making me want to be the best version of myself, and for being an unwavering source of support.

I am deeply thankful to everyone in Dr. Assaad Eid's lab. Everyone had their own way of encouraging me and supporting me throughout the course of this project, especially **Tatiana Jalkh**, **Mohammad El Massry**, **Mary Meritaten Haddad**, and **Mirella El Khoury**.

I am so incredibly grateful to **Stephanie Eid**, who from day one has been caring and supportive, even across oceans and continents. Your kind words gave me the power to face all obstacles throughout this journey. You were and will always be a source of motivation and inspiration.

Nobody has been more important to me in the pursuit of this project than the members of my family. **Mom**, no words can describe my gratitude and appreciation for you. You have always believed in me and motivated me to follow my dreams. Thank you for all the love, guidance, and support. You are a lifetime blessing.

**Dad**, you taught me how to believe in myself. You showed me that hard work always pays off. You expressed interest in my work from day one and were concerned with every aspect of my project, from cell culture to writing. I cannot be thankful enough for

your encouragement, and I hope that I will always make you proud in life. You are my ultimate role model.

**Zeina Tarraf**, words cannot describe how thankful I am to you. You were a great source of inspiration from the day I submitted my graduate application at AUB until today. Thank you for your warm-hearted tenderness and support. I believe that I wouldn't have made it this far without you.

Lastly, I extend my precious gratitude to my brother and sister for believing in my potential and supporting my dreams.

## AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Rachel Michel Njeim for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Pharmacology and Toxicology

Title: <u>Alpha-2c Adrenoceptor Promotes the Malignant Phenotype of Human Colon Cancer</u> <u>Cells</u>

**Introduction:** Cancer remains one of the leading causes of death worldwide, with colorectal cancer (CRC) being the third most common type. Accumulating evidence shows that stress plays a pivotal role in the malignant phenotype of CRC, by promoting hallmarks of CRC including cellular proliferation, migration, invasion, and angiogenesis. During stressful situations, the sympathetic nervous system is activated, causing an elevation in levels of catecholamines including epinephrine which elicits its effects mainly by activating adrenoceptors. Stimulation of adrenoceptors induces malignancy of CRC. In the presence of blockers for both  $\beta$  and  $\alpha_1$ -ARs, epinephrine continued to promote a malignant phenotype. This indicates that receptors other than  $\beta$  and  $\alpha_1$ -ARs, namely  $\alpha_2$ -ARs, are involved. In our CRC cell line model, the expression of  $\alpha_{2A}$ -AR and  $\alpha_{2B}$ -AR is extremely negligible. Interestingly, the role of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR in CRC malignancy remains obscure. Here, we proposed that activation of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR potentiates the malignant phenotype of human CRC cells.

Methods and Results: Treatment of human colon cancer cell line, SW480, with increasing concentrations of  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 1, 10 or 100 nM) for different time points (24, 48, or 72 hours) did not cause a significant change in proliferation. However, using monolayer scratch assay, a significant increase in migration was observed after treatment with UK 14,304 (100 nM). This was further supported by a transwell migration assay where UK 14,304 increased cell migration. Pretreatment with a specific  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR antagonist (JP 1302; 100 nM) abolished the UK 14,304-induced cell migration. This increase in migratory capacity was concomitant with increased Rho activation evident by translocation of Rho from the cytoplasm to the cell membrane as well as via a Rhotekinbinding activation assay. The induced Rho activation could be mediated by increased oxidative stress since treatment with UK 14,304 increased NADPH oxidase activity and ROS production. Because ROS is known to induce migration of these cells, we incubated cells with a ROS scavenger (NAC 12.5 mM) or NOX1/4 dual inhibitor (GKT 137831; 20 μM). Our results also show that NAC or GKT abolished UK 14,304-induced cell migration. Because ERK1/2 and FAK are crucial in cell migration, we looked at their phosphorylation levels. Interestingly, UK 14,204 activated both ERK1/2 and FAK. Pretreatment with PF-573228 (10 µM), a FAK-specific inhibitor, or PD98059 (20 µM), an ERK1/2 inhibitor, abolished UK-induced migration. Moreover, adhesion of SW480 colon cancer cells to TNF-alpha-activated HUVECs was promoted by UK 14,304. This UK 14,304-induced adhesion was significantly reduced when cells were pre-treated with JP 1302. Moreover,

UK 14,304 caused a dramatic increase in transendothelial migration of SW480 through HUVECs; however, UK 14,304 failed to cause this increase in the presence of JP1302, clearly indicating that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR activation may promote intra- or extravasation. Because breaking the endothelial cell barrier requires matrix digestion, we measured the levels of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Importantly, stimulation of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -ARs by UK14,304 increased the production of MMP2 and MMP9, and JP 1302 abolished this UK14,304-induced production. Since vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is essential for angiogenesis, we also assessed the expression of VEGF following stimulation with UK14,304. Treatment with UK 14,304 significantly increased VEGF expression.

**Conclusion:** Taken together, our data suggests that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR potentiates the migratory and invasive capacities and hence the malignant phenotype of human colon cancer cells. Therefore,  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR may represent a novel target in the treatment of CRC.

## CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OFvii
ILLUSTRATIONS
Chapter
I. INTRODUCTION1
A. Background Information1
1. Epidemiology1
2. Stages of CRC1
3. Screening
4. Treatment
5. Complications of CRC5
B. Risk Factors
1. Age and Genetics
2. Environment7
3. Stress

C.	Adrenergic Receptors	12
1	. Alpha-Adrenergic Receptors	12
2	. Beta-Adrenergic Receptors	14
D.	Adrenergic Receptors and Colorectal Cancer	15
1	Proliferation	15
2	. Migration	17
3	. Invasion	18
4	. Apoptosis	19
5	. Angiogenesis	20
E.	Hypothesis	21
II. M	ATERIALS AND METHODS	23
A.	Cell lines and culture	23
B.	Immunofluorescence staining of alpha-2c adrenoceptor	23
C.	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide Assay	24
D.	Monolayer Scratch Assay	24
E.	Transwell Migration Assay	25
F.	Adhesion assay	26
G.	Transendothelial migration	26
H.	NADPH Oxidase Activity	27

I.	Dihydroethidium staining (DHE)
J.	Determination of Rho translocation by Western blot analysis
K.	Rhotekin-binding activation assay
L.	Western blotting
M.	Measurement of matrix metalloproteinases by ELISA
N.	Quantitative Immunoassay for Human Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
О.	Statistical Analysis
III. R	ESULTS
A.	Receptor Expression
1.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR is expressed on the plasma membrane of SW480 colon cancer cells32
B.	Proliferation
1.	The effect of $\alpha_2$ -AR stimulation on proliferation of SW480 cells
С.	Migration
1.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation induces migration of SW480 cells
2.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation induces RhoA translocation to the plasma membrane
3.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases ROS production and NADPH oxidases activity38
4.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR induced oxidative stress induces migration
5.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases ERK 1/2 and FAK activity
D.	Adhesion, Transendothelial Migration, and Invasion43
1.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation promotes adhesion and transendothelial migration
2.	$\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression

E. Angiogenesis	46
1. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases VEGF expression	46
IV. DISCUSSION	48
CONCLUSION	56
LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	56
REFERENCES	57

## ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure Page
Figure 1: Colorectal cancer risk factors7
Figure 2: Stress-induced activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
Figure 3: Complication of stress
Figure 4: Localization of $\alpha$ 2C-AR in SW480 human colon cancer cells
Figure 5: No significant differences in the proliferation of SW480 cells33
Figure 6: UK 14,304 (100nM) increases SW480 migration via the activation of $\alpha$ 2c-AR36
Figure 7 : SW480 cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 minutes
Figure 8: $\alpha$ 2c-AR stimulation increases ROS production NADPH oxidases activity40
Figure 9: $\alpha$ 2c-AR -induced oxidative stress increases migration of SW480 colon cancer
cells
Figure 10: $\alpha$ 2c-AR stimulation increases ERK 1/2 and FAK activity which are crucial for
migration
Figure 11: $\alpha$ 2c-AR stimulation increases adhesion and transendothelial migration44
Figure 12 : α2C-AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions
Figure 13: α2C-AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions47

Figure 14: The proposed signaling pathway of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR-induced CRC malignancy......55

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

#### A. Background Information

#### 1. Epidemiology

Following cardiovascular diseases, cancer is the second leading cause of death and accounts for 13 percent of worldwide mortalities (1). Cancer is defined as the uncontrolled division of abnormal cells, which can then invade different parts of the body and spread to other organs - a process referred to as metastasis. Despite major advancements in cancer research, colorectal cancer (CRC) remains the third most common type of cancer. A recent World Health Organization (WHO) report revealed that in 2015 alone, colorectal cancer estimated 774000 lives globally (1). For the year 2018, the American Cancer Society estimated 97,220 new cases of colon cancer and 43,030 new cases of rectal cancer in the United States (2). Colorectal cancer is seen in a wide geographic area. It is most common in industrialized countries such as in Australia, Western Europe, North America, and New Zealand (3).

#### 2. Stages of CRC

CRC usually begins as a non-cancerous polyp that grows slowly on the inner lining of the colon or rectum. The most common type of CRC is an adenomatous polyp or adenoma. Up to one-half of a given population might develop one or more adenomas during their lifetime; however, fewer than one tenth of these adenomas might progress into

cancer (4). Adenocarcinoma is cancer arising from the inner lining of the colorectum and accounts for almost 96 percent of all CRC (4). The prognosis of CRC is invariably dependent on the degree of bowel wall invasion, lymph node metastasis, as well as distant metastases (3). Three different systems are used for the staging of CRC: Astle-Coller system, Dukes system, and TNM system. American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC) revealed the TNM classification, which takes into account the aforementioned mediators. Indeed, the TNM classification is by large the most important assessment in the clinic that is used to decide on the treatment options (3). Stage 0 refers to carcinoma in situ, where the tumor is all contained within the inner bowel lining. Stage I is when the tumor has grown through the inner bowel lining reaching the muscle wall of the bowel (4). Stage IIA is a tumor that has grown through the outer bowel lining but without the involvement of nearby tissue or lymph nodes. Stage IIB is a tumor that has grown to the visceral peritoneum. Stage IIC indicates a tumor that has spread through the wall of the colon or rectum and has grown to nearby tissues, yet without the involvement of lymph nodes (4). Stage IIIA is when the tumor has grown into the muscle layers of the intestine and has spread to at least 1-3 lymph nodes. Stage IIIB is a tumor that has spread to surrounding organs and into 1 to 3 lymph nodes. Stage IIIC refers to a tumor that has spread to 4 or more lymph nodes, but not to distant pats of the body (4). Stage IVA refers to cancer that has spread to a single distant part of the body, such as the lungs or liver. Stage IVB is cancer that has spread to more than one distant part of the body (4).

#### 3. Screening

Earlier diagnosis through screening and advances in treatment modalities have improved CRC survival rate. For instance, the mortality from CRC decreased by approximately 35 percent from 1990 to 2007, and in 2012 mortality was down by 50 percent (5). The American Cancer Society recommends screening at the age of fifty for people with average risk of CRC but at an earlier age for people with increased risk such as family history, diabetes, or inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The decision to be screened after age 75 should be made on an individual basis (4). There are several screening tests that could be used to detect colorectal cancer. These include guaiac-based fecal occult blood test, sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, and computed tomography (CT) colonography (4).

#### 4. Treatment

The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines recommend surgery as a first line of treatment. Adjuvant chemotherapy, based on the drug fluorouracil (5-FU), is indicated for stage II- high risk or stage III patients. 5-FU is a thymidylate synthase inhibitor and blocking this enzyme prevents the synthesis of pyrimidine thymidine, which is a nucleoside required for DNA replication (4). Common 5-FU toxicities include gastrointestinal effects, such as mucositis, nausea, and vomiting. Moreover, redness, swelling, and pain on the palms of the hands and/or soles of the feet (hand-foot syndrome) may occur in patients receiving continuous fluorouracil infusion (4). In patients receiving bolus fluorouracil infusions, myelosuppressive effects are more common (4). Oxaliplatin is often part of the adjuvant chemotherapy as well (4). Oxaliplatin is an alkylating agent that forms both inter- and intra-strand cross links in DNA, which prevents DNA replication and transcription resulting in cell death. Neurotoxicity is the most frequent dose-limiting toxicity of oxaliplatin (6).

Biologically targeted therapies may also be administered either alone, or in combination with chemotherapy to relieve symptoms. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved biologically targeted drugs that act on a protein called vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and others that target epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (4). VEGF inhibitors, such as bevacizumab, inhibit angiogenesis by binding to the proangiogenic factor VEGF and preventing its binding to VEGF receptor. Common side effects of VEGF inhibitors include high blood pressure, low white blood cell count, diarrhea, fatigue, headaches, and loss of appetite (4). EGFR signaling cascade plays a pivotal role in epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) (7). During EMT, epithelial proteins, such as E-cadherin,  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -catenin are downregulated, while mesenchymal proteins, including vimentin, fibronectin, are upregulated, both of which lead to increased migratory capacity and invasiveness (7). Two classes of EGFR inhibitors have been developed: monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that target the extracellular domain of EGFR, such as cetuximab, and small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors that target the receptor catalytic domain of EGFR, such as gefitinib and erlotinib (7). Most common side effects of mAbs include skin problems such as papulopustular rash because EGF and EGFR are involved in stimulating epidermal and dermal regeneration. Other side effects include headaches, fever, fatigue, and diarrhea (7). Erlotinib is known to inhibit Ras signaling, a downstream signaling molecule of EGFR. It is proposed that targeting downstream

signaling molecules of EGFR may have lower cutaneous side effects (8). KRAS is an effector molecule responsible for EGFR signaling cascade. Activating mutations in KRAS induces resistance to EGFR-targeted mAbs. Thus, it is suggested that all patients with CRC are routinely tested for KRAS mutations, with EGFR-targeted mAbs being a potential therapeutic approach only for patients exhibiting wild-type KRAS (9). Moreover, studies have interestingly shown that resistance to EGFR inhibitors may be partly mediated by activating VEGF-dependent signaling cascades. Therefore, combining anti-EGFR (erlotinib or cetuximab) and anti-VEGF (bevacizumab) agents proved to be a promising therapy in preclinical and clinical studies (10).

#### 5. Complications of CRC

Despite the significant improvements made in treating CRC, liver metastasis still remains a major challenge in prolonging survival. Around half of CRC patients sustain liver metastasis of whom fifteen percent fit the criteria to receive surgical resection (11). Patients with liver metastasis have poor prognosis and a median survival of 5 to 20 months with no treatment. The best prognosis for patients who present with local metastasis is a survival rate at 5 years of 11 percent. In fact, a 5-year survival is exceptional even in patients with limited metastatic disease. This is clearly indicative of an increasing need for newer therapeutic drugs (12).

#### **B. Risk Factors**

#### 1. Age and Genetics

There are several risk factors associated with CRC (Fig. 1). The risk of CRC increases progressively after the age of 40 and drastically after the age of 50. Indeed, approximately 90 percent of CRC cases are diagnosed in people aged 50 and older (13). The median age at diagnosis for colon cancer is 68 in men and 72 in women. Moreover, a personal history of adenomatous polyps or a personal history of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), whether ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease, multiples the relative risk of colorectal cancer (13). Also, people with family history of adenomatous polyps or colorectal cancer in one or more first-degree relatives are at increased risk. In addition, an estimated 5 to 10 percent of colorectal cancer cases result from recognized hereditary conditions such as familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC), also called Lynch Syndrome (13). Lynch syndrome, accounts for 2 to 4 % of all colorectal cancers, and results from an inherited defect in either the MLH1 or MSH2 gene- genes that are involved in repairing DNA damage. In fact, the lifetime risk of CRC in people with Lynch Syndrome is as high as 80% depending on the gene affected. On the other hand, FAP results from mutations in the APC gene that a person inherits from his or her parents. FAP accounts for 1% of all CRC (13).



Figure 1: Colorectal cancer risk factors

#### 2. Environment

Besides age and hereditary factors, a substantial number of lifestyle and environmental risk factors play an important role in increasing the risk of CRC (13). For instance, nutritional practices, such as high fat diets and red meat, strongly influence the risk of colorectal cancer (14). A possible reason behind this is that high dietary fat intake results in increased exposure to bile acids. At high physiologic concentrations, bile acids, mainly deoxycholic acid (DOC) and lithocholic acid (LCA), lead to the generation of reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species, disruption of the cell membrane and mitochondria, induction of DNA damage, mutation and apoptosis, and ultimately cancer (15). Moreover, red meat increases the chances of developing colorectal cancer due to the high presence of heme iron. The mechanism is not clear, but heme iron has a catalytic effect on the endogenous formation of carcinogenic *N*-nitroso compounds and the formation of cytotoxic aldehydes by lipoperoxidation (14). Physical inactivity and obesity, manifested by lower metabolic efficiency and decreased insulin sensitivity, are also associated with the increased risk of colorectal cancer (16). Cigarette smoking is known to be the leading cause of lung cancer. Remarkably, recent studies have shown that 12 percent of colorectal cancer deaths are also attributed to long-term smoking (16). Giovannucci *et al.* hypothesized that carcinogens present in cigarette smoke may initiate tumors in the colon and rectum. An induction period of 35 to 40 years may be needed to increase CRC incidence (17). Alcohol consumption also exacerbated the smoking-induced risk of CRC because DNA mutations that are caused by smoking are less efficiently repaired in the presence of alcohol (16). According to WHO, there are 2 billion people worldwide who consume alcohol on a regular basis with an average of 6.2 liters of ethanol per adult per year. A pooled analysis of 8 cohort studies in Europe and North America found that regular high alcohol intake (>45 g/day) modestly increases the risk of colorectal cancer (45 % for colon cancer and 49 % for rectal cancer) (18). Interestingly, Pederson *et al.* have shown that the risk of colorectal cancer seems to be reduced when wine is added to the alcohol intake (18).

#### 3. Stress

Recent studies suggest that a distressed emotional state is also a potential risk factor for CRC (13). Stress is a physiologic response to any kind of threat or demand. During stressful situations, the sympathetic nervous system is activated (Fig. 2). This system acts on the adrenal medulla to stimulate the release of endogenous catecholamines. The catecholamines, epinephrine and norepinephrine, then act on adrenergic receptors that are ubiquitously expressed in different tissues.



Figure 2: Stress-induced activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis

Although stress is involved in physiologic reactions, it could sometimes lead to a homeostatic imbalance. Complications of chronic stress include sleep problems, depression, autoimmune diseases, heart diseases, reproductive problems, digestive problems, and cancer (19) (Fig. 3).



Figure 3: Complication of stress

For instance, chronic stress results in a sustained increase in cortisol and a decrease in serotonin and dopamine, both of which cause depression and sleep problems (19). Moreover, although cortisol helps in fighting inflammation, continuous increase in cortisol during chronic stress causes a dysregulation in the immune system thus precipitating inflammation (20). This unabated inflammation weakens the immune system, and autoimmune diseases, such as Celiac disease, may develop (20). Chronic stress may also result in hypertension through repeated activation of the sympathetic nervous system. Indeed, stress reduction interventions including meditation, stress management training, progressive muscle relaxation, acupuncture, and music therapy was associated with

significant blood pressure reductions (21). Studies have also shown that corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH) inhibits hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion, and glucocorticoids prevent pituitary luteinizing hormone and ovarian estrogen and progesterone secretion. These effects may result in female fertility problems and the "hypothalamic" amenorrhea of stress (22). Moreover, evidence has shown that mild to severe emotional stress may decrease testosterone levels and interfere with spermatogenesis in males (23).

Cancer is also a major complication of chronic stress. Indeed, stress induces a wide variety of biological responses involved in cancer progression including cellular proliferation, migration, invasion, and angiogenesis (11). Over the past 30 years, clinical and epidemiological studies have provided strong evidence supporting the link between chronic stress and cancer progression. However, there is limited evidence for the role of stress in cancer initiation. Numerous studies have revealed a possible link between stress and cancer progression, particularly breast cancer (24). Cancer patients usually live under chronic stress due to all the challenges they face in treatment and disease progression. At the molecular level, chronic stress induces the production of stress-related hormones that has been shown to cause changes in proliferation, apoptosis susceptibility, migration, and invasion potential of both normal and cancerous cells (25). Stress-related hormones increase the production of radicals, increase inflammation through the production of cytokines (26), impair the immune cell function (26), and stimulate the production of VEGF (26), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and other growth factors that promote the growth of the tumor (26).

The adrenoceptors, as mediators of stress, belong to a large family of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) (27). Once activated, they stimulate GTP-binding regulatory proteins, which in turn activates effectors including adenylyl cyclase and phospholipase C (28). There are two types of adrenergic receptors:  $\alpha$  adrenergic receptors ( $\alpha$ AR), which are classified into two subtypes ( $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$ ), and  $\beta$  adrenergic receptors ( $\beta$ AR) divided into  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$ , and  $\beta_3$  subtypes (29).

#### C. Adrenergic Receptors

#### 1. Alpha-Adrenergic Receptors

Alpha-1 adrenoceptors are widely distributed in central and peripheral sites such as the brain, heart, blood vessels, spleen, liver, kidney, and prostate (30). Three  $\alpha_1$ -AR subtypes have been identified:  $\alpha_{1A}$ ,  $\alpha_{1B}$ , and  $\alpha_{1D}$ . In the CNS, their activation initiates depolarization and neuronal excitability (27).  $\alpha_1$ ARs are G<sub>q</sub>PCR that activate phospholipase C (PLC) (31). PLC then catalyzes the conversion of phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP2) into inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). This increases intracellular calcium concentrations and stimulates smooth muscle contraction (32), mitogenesis (33), hepatic gluconeogenesis, glycogenolysis (34), apoptotic pathways, and cardiac stimulation (35). Studies have shown that  $\alpha_1$ -ARs are also linked to other intracellular cascades including phospholipase A2, phospholipase D, MAP kinases, ROS production and NADPH oxidase. These responses are tissue and cell-type specific (34). For instance, in cardiomyocytes  $\alpha_1$ -ARs activate MAPK pathways to induce expression of genes involved in cardiac hypertrophy. Moreover, in vascular smooth muscle cells,  $\alpha_1$ -ARs activate Ras/MAPK pathway which stimulates DNA synthesis and cell growth as well as proliferation (31).

Alpha-2 adrenergic receptors were initially described as presynaptic regulators that act via a negative feedback loop to control the release of norepinephrine (29). However,  $\alpha_2$ -AR are also present on post-junctional sites. They are G<sub>i</sub>PCR that inhibit adenylyl cyclase and mediate actions such as platelet aggregation (36), smooth muscle contraction (37), and inhibition of insulin secretion (38). Three alpha-2 adrenergic receptors have been cloned:  $\alpha_{2A}$ ,  $\alpha_{2B}$ , and  $\alpha_{2C}$ .  $\alpha_2$ -ARs act both centrally and peripherally. In the CNS,  $\alpha_2$ -ARs are involved in antihypertensive action of  $\alpha_2$  agonists such as clonidine. Nonselective  $\alpha_2$ agonist usually leads to a biphasic blood pressure response;  $\alpha_{2B}$  -AR is responsible for the initial hypertensive effect, whereas  $\alpha_{2A}$ -AR activation results in blood pressure decrease (29). Hence, a selective  $\alpha_{2A}$  agonist may serve as a therapeutic target in the treatment or management of hypertension (29). Moreover, both  $\alpha_{2A}$  and  $\alpha_{2C}$  inhibit dopamine release in basal ganglia and serotonin secretion in the mouse hippocampal or brain cortex slices (29).  $\alpha_{2A}$ -AR was thought to be the major inhibitory presynaptic receptor in sympathetic neurons (39). However, there is increasing evidence that  $\alpha_{2C}$  receptor also functions as a presynaptic regulator in central and more prominently peripheral nervous tissues (39). The difference between  $\alpha_{2A}$  and  $\alpha_{2C}$  receptors is that  $\alpha_{2A}$  inhibits the neurotransmitter release significantly faster and at higher action potential frequencies than  $\alpha_{2C}$ . In the gastrointestinal tract, the inhibitory effect on the motility is mediated only by  $\alpha_{2A}$  receptors (29).

 $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR are predominantly expressed on cutaneous arteries and veins. They are

responsible for thermoregulation enabling the vessels to constrict during the cold. This response is exaggerated in Raynaud's phenomenon. Jeyaraj *et al.* established that when exposed to cold temperature,  $\alpha_{2C}$  may be translocated from the intracellular pool to the cell surface. Patients with Raynaud's phenomenon experience augmented cold-induced vasoconstriction especially in the fingers and toes. Treatment with  $\alpha_{2C}$  antagonists showed to relieve their symptoms (40). Further molecular and cellular experimentation by Bailey *et al.* showed that cold-induced activation of Rho/Rho kinase can facilitate cold-induced constriction in cutaneous arteries by stimulating the translocation of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs to the plasma membrane and also by increasing the calcium sensitivity of the contractile process (41).

#### 2. Beta-Adrenergic Receptors

Beta-adrenergic receptors ( $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$ , and  $\beta_3$ ) are G<sub>s</sub>PCR that stimulate adenylyl cyclase and increase intracellular cAMP concentrations. Selective agonists and antagonists exist for each of the three subtypes that helped identify their physiological significance.  $\beta_1$  adrenoceptors play a major role in cardiac stimulation and increase inotropy and chronotropy (42). They are also involved in renin release (43).  $\beta_2$ -AR are predominantly expressed in bronchial smooth muscle and their activation results in bronchodilation (44). Moreover, they are expressed on vascular smooth muscle causing vasodilation, and on cardiomyocytes resulting in increased inotropy (45). The  $\beta_3$ -AR are important for lipolysis in white adipose tissue and thermogenesis in the brown adipose tissue found in rodents (27). Other important physiological functions for  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors include insulin and glucagon secretion from the endocrine pancreas and stimulation of glycogenolysis in

skeletal muscle and the liver (46). Myocardial infarction is characterized by increased GPCR kinases which result in desensitization of  $\beta_1$ -AR and  $\beta_2$ -AR.  $\beta_3$ -AR, on the other hand, lacks the GPCR kinase recognition sites and hence is not desensitized in heart failure. Having said that,  $\beta_3$ -AR may contribute to protective signaling pathways in the heart (47).

#### D. Adrenergic Receptors and Colorectal Cancer

The intertwined relation between stress and the malignant phenotype of colorectal cancer has been well documented. In particular, the adrenergic receptors, as mediators of stress, have been linked to the hallmarks of CRC such as proliferation, migration, invasion, apoptosis, and angiogenesis. As a matter of fact, the close distribution of noradrenergic fibers to the basement lamina of the colon results in the human colon being particularly sensitive to stress (48).

#### 1. Proliferation

To begin with proliferation, studies have shown that catecholamines increase tumor cell proliferation. For instance, Lin *et al.* has shown that chronic restraint stress (CRS), induced by constraining mice horizontally in 50 ml conical centrifuge , increased the levels of norepinephrine (NE) and epinephrine (E) and stimulated the growth of CRC cell-derived tumors *in vivo*. *In vitro*, both E and NE increased the proliferation of HT-29, SW116, and LS174T CRC colon cancer cell lines in a dose dependent manner. However, when tumor cells were cultured in the presence of corticosterone, no significant differences in proliferation was observed. This implies that norepinephrine and epinephrine

are the stress hormones associated with CRC growth (49). Moreover, a non-selective  $\alpha$ - AR antagonist (phentoalmine) and β-AR antagonist (propranolol) blocked the CRS-enhanced CRC cell growth in nude mice and CRC cell proliferation in vitro (49). Another study has also shown that  $\beta$ -AR play an important role in cell proliferation via ERK/MAPK activation pathway and β-AR blockade inhibited epinephrine induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and thus reduced cell proliferation (49). Moreover, epinephrine stimulated HT-29 colon cancer cell proliferation in a dose dependent manner. The activation of these receptors by epinephrine upregulated cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression and increased matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) activity. This resulted in the progression of CRC (50). In addition to that,  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ selective antagonists attenuated the stimulatory effects of epinephrine on the proliferation of HT-29 cells. Thus, epinephrine directly stimulated colon cancer cell proliferation through  $\beta$ -ARs which are upstream receptors of COX-2, VEGF and MMP-9 (50). This suggests that  $\beta$ -AR antagonist may be a potential therapeutic approach for the prevention and treatment of CRC. A protective role for non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), COX-2 inhibitor, has also been documented (50). Furthermore, selective blockage of  $\beta_2$ -AR, but not  $\beta_1$ -AR, resulted in downregulating survival signaling pathways such as EGFR-AKT-ERK1/2 pathway and caused G1-phase arrest (51). Contrary to these findings, Harris et. al found that  $\beta$ -AR stimulation decreased viability and proliferation of human SW480 colon carcinoma cells. However,  $\alpha_{1B}$ -AR activation increased the survival of SW480, which calls for the investigation of these receptors as targets for antineoplastic agents (52). A study has shown that epinephrine may also act via a unique pathway to

induce cell proliferation and increase chemoresistance in colon cancer. miR-155, recently found to be an oncogene, promotes cell proliferation and migration and inhibits apoptosis in colon cancer cells. miR-155 is known to be upregulated by NF $\kappa$ B. Epinephrine treatment significantly increased NF $\kappa$ B activity in a dose-dependent manner and subsequently increased miR-155 expression. This contributed to an increase in proliferation and chemoresistance in colon carcinoma cells (53).

#### 2. Migration

Adrenergic receptors have also been linked to migration. Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process during which epithelial cells undergo biochemical changes to acquire the characteristics of mesenchymal cells, such as increased resistance to apoptosis, increased ECM components, invasiveness, and migratory capacity (54). A recent study showed that by acting on  $\beta$ -AR, norepinephrine could induce EMT via decreasing epithelial marker (E-cadherin) and increasing expression of mesenchymal marker (vimentin). Two potential signaling pathways were involved:  $\beta$ -AR/TGF- $\beta$  1 signaling/HIF-1 $\alpha$  /Snail and  $\beta$ -AR/TGF- $\beta$  1 signaling/p-Smad3/Snail. These pathways indicate that TGF- $\beta$  1 signaling pathway is a significant factor of NE-induced EMT of CRC cells. Both non-selective  $\beta$ -AR and selective  $\beta_2$ -AR- antagonists were able to significantly decrease the migratory and invasive numbers of NE-treated cells; however, the numbers were still greater than in the control group indicating that  $\beta$ -AR antagonists only partially inhibited the migratory and invasive effect by NE (55). Epinephrine also increases migration through the activation of  $\beta$ -AR that increases MMP-9 activity in a COX-2 dependent

pathway (50). In line with previous studies, Masur *et al.* showed that norepinephrine augmented the migration of SW480 colon cancer cells by acting on  $\beta$ –AR to activate protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) (56). A nonselective  $\beta$ -blocker reduced the stimulatory effects of norepinephrine on migration (56). Interestingly, a  $\beta_1$ -blocker only marginally influenced the norepinephrine-induced locomotion. The inhibition of PTK using PP2 lead to a decrease in norepinephrine-induced locomotion from 70 % to 20 % which represents the level spontaneous locomotor activity. PP2 did not affect the spontaneous locomotor activity. However, the inhibition of PLC $\gamma$  and PKC $\alpha$  resulted in a decrease in both spontaneous and norepinephrine induced locomotion. This suggests the use of a  $\beta_2$ -blocker for the preventive treatment to inhibit metastasis of colon carcinoma (56). Another study also showed that norepinephrine abolished the inhibitory effect of sunitinib, a chemotherapeutic drug, on cell migration in sunitinib treated HT-29 and CT26 colon cancer cell lines (57).

#### 3. Invasion

Invasion is another hallmark of CRC modulated through the activation of the adrenergic system. Cell invasion is a process during which cancer cells migrate through the extracellular matrices within a tissue or infiltrate into neighboring tissues. Previous studies have shown that  $\beta$  adrenergic signaling modulates both invasion and tumor vascularization. Chronic stress increases VEGF, MMP9, and CD31 protein expression, all being markers of invasion and angiogenesis (11). Chronic stress also alters the primary tumor microenvironment increasing M-MDSCs infiltration, major immunosuppressive cells in the

tumor microenvironment. It also upregulated the expression of metastatic genes, ultimately resulting in increased invasion and metastasis to the liver. The use of  $\beta$ -blocker significantly abrogated the macrophages infiltration (11). It has been shown that APC mutations in the early stages and tumor suppressor p53 and KRAS mutations in the later stages both influence CRC progression and drive the malignant epithelial transformation. KRAS status acts as a biomarker determining the sensitization to  $\beta_2$ -AR blockage, similar to anti-EGFR therapy.  $\beta_2$ -AR blockade, and not  $\beta_1$ -AR blockade, strongly inhibits not only growth and viability but also invasion and migration in CRC cells that express wild-type KRAS (58).

#### 4. Apoptosis

A hallmark of cancer is the ability of malignant cells to evade apoptosis. It has been shown that catecholamines-induced activation of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptors accelerate the progression of cancers including CRC. Chin *et al.* investigated the underlying signaling mechanism of the inhibition of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ -AR in the treatment of CRC. They established that  $\beta_2$ -AR blockage induced G1 phase arrest through the upregulation of p21 and p27 expression and downregulation of cyclin D1 and CDK4 expression (51). Moreover, histone H3 (Ser10) phosphorylation is involved in cell cycle progression while histone H2A.X (Ser139) phosphorylation is indicative of DNA damage.  $\beta_2$ -AR blockage induced H2A.X (Ser139) phosphorylation and decreased histone H3 (Ser10) phosphorylation, thus, promoting DNA damage and apoptosis through the intrinsic caspase-9 and extrinsic caspase-8 apoptotic pathways (51). Furthermore,  $\beta_2$ -AR blockage induced apoptosis by upregulating the expression pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 members (Bak, Bax and Puma) and downregulating the expression of pro-survival Bcl-2 members (Mcl- 1 and Bcl-xL) (51). Thus  $\beta_2$ -AR blockage might be a potential therapeutic approach to halt the progression of CRC. Another study mentioned above showed that epinephrine upregulated miR-155 by increasing NF $\kappa$ B which ultimately results in a decrease in cisplatin-induced apoptosis in HT-29 cells (53).

#### 5. Angiogenesis

As angiogenesis, also referred to as vascularization, is essential for tumor growth and metastasis, targeting tumor-associated angiogenesis is a promising therapeutic approach to limit cancer progression. Sunitinib is an inhibitor of several receptor tyrosine kinases including the receptors for VEGF and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), FMS-like tyrosinekinase-3 (FLT3), stem cell factor receptor (KIT). It exerts its chemotherapeutic action though anti-angiogenic effects. Liu et al. found that chronic restraint stress decreased the efficacy of sunitinib by increasing the expression of VEGF and interleukin-8 which stimulate angiogenesis. Norepinephrine induced a similar effect that was abolished by the  $\beta$ -antagonist propranolol (57). Thus, under psychological stress which is commonly seen in cancer patients,  $\beta$ -antagonist (propranolol) may improve antiangiogenic activity of sunitinib (57). Moreover, through VEGF and CD31 staining, it has been shown that chronic stress was sufficient to cause a statistically significant increase in angiogenesis (11). Based on previous studies, which showed that the sympathetic nervous system regulates tumor vascularization and angiogenesis, Zhao et al. showed that a beta blocker abolished the stress-induced vascularization (11).

#### E. Hypothesis

Despite major advances in cancer research and treatment, CRC remains one of the leading causes of deaths worldwide (1). The hallmarks of CRC, including proliferation, migration, invasion, angiogenesis, and apoptosis have all been linked to stress and the adrenergic system. Recent studies have shown that  $\beta$ -ARs play a major role in accelerating the progression of CRC by modulating the aforementioned hallmarks. Therefore,  $\beta$ -ARs may serve as a potential target for the treatment of CRC and help in delaying the progression of CRC. It has been shown that advanced colon cancer patients on ACEIs/ARBs with  $\beta$ -blockers had a slower tumor progression, decreased hospitalizations, and a decreased mortality (59). Moreover, stage IV colorectal cancer patients on β-blockers had a significantly longer overall and cancer-related survival (60). Lately, there has been a debate on whether  $\alpha$ -blockers might mimic the therapeutic role of  $\beta$ -blockers in CRC. Indeed, recent studies underpin an important role of  $\alpha$ -ARs in the progression of cancer (61,62). The use of  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor antagonist, yohimbine, inhibited the proliferation of pancreatic cell lines and induced their apoptosis, suggesting that  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor antagonist can be used as an anticancer drug for apoptosis of pancreatic cells (61). Moreover, rauwolscine, an  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor antagonist, was shown to be effective in inhibiting breast cancer proliferation and may represent a possible novel adjuvant treatment for breast cancer (62). In CRC studies, in the presence of blockers for both  $\beta$  and  $\alpha_1$ -ARs, epinephrine continued to promote a malignant phenotype. This indicates that receptors other than  $\beta$  and  $\alpha_1$ -ARs, namely  $\alpha_2$ -ARs, are involved. In our CRC cell line model, the expression of  $\alpha_{2A}$ -AR and  $\alpha_{2B}$ -AR is extremely negligible (52). Interestingly, the role of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR in CRC

malignancy remains obscure. Here, we proposed that activation of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR potentiates the malignant phenotype of human CRC cells.

# CHAPTER II MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### A. Cell lines and culture

SW480 human colon cancer cells, classified as Dukes' type B colorectal adenocarcinoma, were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (Sigma-Aldrich, D6046) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Cells were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air. The culture medium was replaced every 48 hours. Once the cells reached 90 - 95% confluency, cells were split at a ratio of 1 to 4.

#### B. Immunofluorescence staining of alpha-2c adrenoceptor.

SW480 cells were seeded on cover slips in 12-well plates at a density of  $2\times10^5$  cells per well in complete DMEM and placed at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 70 % confluency. Cells were then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for 15 to 20 min at RT. Cells were then washed three times with PBS, blocked with 3% normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 hour at RT and incubated with the primary antibodies:  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR (Abcam, ab46536) and Caveolin (Abcam, ab17052) in 1% NGS/PBS overnight at 4°C. Following incubation, cells were washed three times with PBS and placed for 2 hours at RT in the presence of fluorescein-conjugated secondary antibody Alexa Fluor (Abcam, ab150080) diluted at 1:500 in PBS. After washing three times with PBS, sample
cells were mounted with DAPI (Abcam). Cover slip was placed on a slide and mounted with antifade. The slide was examined under laser scanning confocal microscope.

#### C. 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide Assay

SW480 cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of  $7 \times 10^3$  cells per well in 200 µl complete DMEM and placed at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 60% confluency. The medium was removed, and cells were serum-starved for 24 h prior to treatment. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control for cell viability. Cells were treated with different concentrations of  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 1, 10, or 100 nM) for different time points (24, 48, and 72 h) in serum-starved medium. Following treatment with UK 14,304 (Abcam, ab120773), 20 µL of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT; Sigma-Aldrich) solution (5 mg/ml) was added to each well (final MTT concentration of 0.5 mg/ml) for 1 hour. The plates were then incubated under 95% atmosphere air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 1 hour. Wells were then aspirated, and 200  $\mu$ L of DMSO were added to each well and gently mixed for 20 minutes to dissolve the formazan crystals. Treatments were performed in triplicates, and optical densities were read on an Elisa Multiscan EX Reader (Thermo) at a wavelength of 550 nm. Results are expressed as a percentage of control, the viability of which is assumed to be 100%.

#### **D.** Monolayer Scratch Assay

SW480 cells were seeded in 12-well plates at a density of  $3 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 1 ml complete DMEM and placed at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 90-95 %

confluency. The medium was removed, and cells were serum-starved for 24 h prior to treatment. A uniform wound was scratched on the cell monolayer using a 10  $\mu$ L sterile pipette tip. The remaining cells were then washed twice with PBS and cultured in a serum-starved medium containing 0.5% FBS. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control. Cells were treated with 7 different conditions:  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 100 nM),  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR specific antagonist, JP 1302 (Abcam, ab141129; 100nM), pretreatment with JP 1302 for 30 minutes followed by UK 14,304, NOX 1/4 enzyme inhibitor (GKT 137831; 20  $\mu$ M), pretreatment with GKT 137831 for 1 hour followed by UK 14,304, ROS Scavenger (N-acetyl cysteine NAC; 12.5 mM), pretreatment with NAC for 1 hour followed by UK 14,304. The wound healing was monitored at 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, and 24 hours. Micrographs were taken, in marked areas. The distance was measured in  $\mu$ m. The quantification of the evolution of the healing was analyzed with ZEN lite from Zeiss Microscope software.

#### E. Transwell Migration Assay

SW480 cells were seeded in the upper chamber of a 24-multiwell insert system (8 um pore size, PET membrane) at a density of  $4 \times 10^4$  cells per insert in 200 µl serum-starved DMEM. 700 µl of complete DMEM containing 10 % FBS was added to the lower chamber to act as a chemoattractant. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control for cell migration. Cells were pretreated with JP 1302 (100nM) for 30 minutes followed by UK 14,304 (100nM). SW480 cells were placed at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator and allowed to migrate for 24 hours. After incubation, the media in inserts was aspirated and

wells were washed twice with PBS. Cells were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 minutes. The fixation solution was aspirated, and cells were washed twice with PBS. Methanol (100%) was then added for 20 minutes. Methanol was aspirated, and cells were washed twice with PBS. Later, cells were stained with 1% crystal violet for 5 minutes. Cells were washed twice with PBS. Non-migrated cells were removed with sterile cotton-tipped applicator. The membrane was cut with a blade and mounted with antifading agent. The slide was observed using a fluorescent microscope.

#### F. Adhesion assay

Cell culture plates were coated with collagen and Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) were then seeded and allowed to grow to reach a confluent monolayer. TNF- $\alpha$  (25 ng/ml) was added for 6 hours to stimulate HUVECs prior to the addition of SW480 cells. SW480 cells were transfected with *Renilla* luciferase and resuspended in DMEM containing 1% BSA. Cell suspension was added to HUVECs in the absence or presence of UK 14,304. After 1 hour, wells were washed three times with PBS to remove unattached cells. Adherent cells were then lysed with a luciferase lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and light units measured according to the manufacturer's protocol.

#### G. Transendothelial migration

Transwell filters were coated with collagen and allowed to dry overnight. HUVECs were then seeded at a density of 2 x  $10^5$  cells per well onto the rehydrated membrane and allowed to grow to reach a confluent monolayer. In order to stimulate HUVECs, TNF- $\alpha$  (25 ng/ml) was added for 6 hours. SW480 cells were then loaded on top

and incubated overnight in the absence or presence of UK 14,304. Non-migrated cells were removed with sterile cotton swab, whereas SW480 cells on the bottom were stained and quantified.

#### H. NADPH Oxidase Activity

SW480 cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of  $3 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 2 ml complete DMEM and placed at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 60% confluency. The complete DMEM was removed and the cells were serum-starved for 12 h prior to treatment. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control. The cells were treated with  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 100 nM; 10 min),  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR specific antagonist (JP 1302; 100 nM), or pretreatment with JP 1302 for 30 minutes followed by UK 14,304 for 10 min. The cells were then collected by adding 50 µl lysis buffer (20 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> [pH 7.0], 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 10 µg/ml aprotinin, and 0.5 µg/ml leupeptin). The lysates were rotated for 1 hour at 4 degrees Celsius. Protein concentrations were determined using Lowry protein Assay. To start the assay, 20 µg of homogenates was added to 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 1 mM EGTA, 150 mM sucrose, 5 µM lucigenin, and 100 µM NADPH. Photon emission expressed as relative light units was measured every 20 or 30 s for 4 minutes in a luminometer. A buffer blank (<5% of the cell signal) was subtracted from each reading.

#### I. Dihydroethidium staining (DHE)

SW480 cells were seeded on a cover slip in 12-well plates at a density of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 1 ml complete DMEM and placed at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 40 % confluency. The complete DMEM was removed and the cells were serum-starved for 12 h prior to treatment. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control. The cells were treated with  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 100 nM; 10 min),  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR specific antagonist (JP 1302; 100 nM), or pretreatment with JP 1302 for 30 minutes followed by UK 14,304 for 10 min. The media was then aspirated, and cells were washed twice with cold PBS. DHE stain (5  $\mu$ M) was added to the wells (1ml/well) in the dark. Cells were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator. The stain was then removed, and wells were washed once with cold PBS. The cover slips were observed using Microscope Zeiss Axio.

#### J. Determination of Rho translocation by Western blot analysis

SW480 cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of  $3 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 2 ml complete DMEM and placed at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator until 70% confluency. After removing the medium, cells were serum-starved for 24 h prior to treatment. Cells incubated in culture medium alone served as a control. Cells were treated with  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 min in serum-starved medium. The cells were then homogenized in cold homogenization buffer (mM): 100 Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 1 EGTA, 1 EDTA, 1 PMSF, and 1 Na3VO4. The homogenates were centrifuged at 100,000 g and 4 °C for 20 min. The supernatant (cytosolic fraction) was

collected, and the pellet (membrane fraction) was re-suspended in homogenization buffer containing 1% Triton X-100. Protein concentrations were determined using Lowry protein Assay. Protein levels of Rho were determined by Western blot using monoclonal Rho antibody (Abcam, ab187027).

#### K. Rhotekin-binding activation assay

SW480 cells were grown to 80% confluence and then made quiescent in 0.5% FBS-DMEM. Cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 minutes. Using Rhotekin Rho binding domain, RhoA activation was measured by G-LISA according to manufacturer recommended protocols (Cytoskeleton). Data were expressed as fold-change in RhoA activity (means  $\pm$  SE).

#### L. Western blotting

Cells were lysed using 10 mM Tris pH 6.8, 2% SDS. Gels were loaded with 25-50 µg of protein lysates on an SDS-PAGE. After transferring the proteins to a nitrocellulose membrane for 1 hour, the membrane was blocked for 1 hour in 5% skim milk, then was washed 3 times with 1xTTBS and incubated overnight with the primary antibody at 4°C. Primary antibodies of ERK 1/2, FAK, RhoA were purchased from Abcam. After incubation with the secondary antibodies for 1 hour, the protein bands were developed with the chemiluminescent reagents (Bio-Rad). The blot images were taken by using the Chemidoc MP Imaging system.

#### M. Measurement of matrix metalloproteinases by ELISA

SW480 cells were grown until they reached near confluence. Cells were incubated in serum-free media and pretreated with increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (0, 3, 10, 30, and 100 nM) for 24 and 48 hours. The conditioned media were collected and subjected to an ELISA for MMP-2 and MMP-9 as per the manufacturer's protocol (R&D Systems, USA). In separate experiments, cells were also pretreated with PD98059 or JP1302 followed by UK 14,304. The conditioned media were collected and subjected to an ELISA for MMP-2 and MMP-9 as per the manufacturer's protocol (R&D Systems, USA). Experiments were conducted in triplicates, and data are presented as percent of control (vehicle).

#### N. Quantitative Immunoassay for Human Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

SW480 cells were seeded in 24-well plates overnight in serum-containing culture media and then, the media was replaced by serum-free media. Cells were treated with increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (0, 3, 10, 30, and 100 nM) and the conditioned media was collected at 24 and 48 h. VEGF level was then measured using a VEGF enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The proteins present in the conditioned media were concentrated using the Amicon Ultra-0.5 protein purification and concentration column (Millipore) and protein concentration was assayed using the BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Scientific). Levels of VEGF were normalized to the total protein level in each sample. The assays were performed in triplicates and three independent experiments were performed. Data are presented as percent of control ± SEM.

#### **O.** Statistical Analysis.

Statistical analysis was performed by a student's t-test for either paired or unpaired observations using GraphPad Prism version 5.0 and InStat3 Software (GraphPad software, Inc. San Diego, CA). Data was presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, where n is equal to the number of times an experiment is repeated (n will be  $\geq$ 3). When more than two means are used for comparison, ANOVA was used: either one-way ANOVA (with Dunnett's post hoc test) or two-way ANOVA (with Tukey-Kramer's post hoc test).

# CHAPTER III

## RESULTS

#### A. Receptor Expression

#### 1. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR is expressed on the plasma membrane of SW480 colon cancer cells

The localization of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR was examined using immunofluorescence staining. The caveolin primary antibody allowed the detection of the plasma membrane. Caveolins are a family of integral membrane proteins that are principal components of caveolae membranes and involved in receptor-independent endocytosis. Immunofluorescence revealed that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are expressed with caveolin on the plasma membrane (Fig. 4).



Figure 4: Localization of  $\alpha 2C$ -AR in SW480 human colon cancer cells. Immunofluorescence staining showed that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR is located at the plasma membrane of SW480. The green color refers to caveolins. Caveolin allows the detection of the plasma

membrane. The red color indicates  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR which is expressed with caveolin at the membrane.

#### B. Proliferation

#### 1. The effect of $\alpha_2$ -AR stimulation on proliferation of SW480 cells

The effect of UK 14,304 ( $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist) on SW480 proliferation was studied using MTT assay. Treatment of SW480 human colon cancer cell lines with increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (10, 30 or 100 nM) for different time points (24, 48, or 72 hours) did not cause a significant change in proliferation (Fig. 5). (p>0.05)



Figure 5: No significant differences in the proliferation of SW480 cells. Increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (1, 10, and 100 nM) had no effect on proliferation at 24, 48, and 72 hours. Viability values are calculated as % of the corresponding vehicle control value and represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three replicates.

#### C. Migration

#### 1. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation induces migration of SW480 cells

The effect of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation on SW480 migration was assessed using both scratch and transwell migration assay (Fig. 6). UK 14,304 (100 nM) significantly increased SW480 migration from upper to lower chamber (Fig. 6A). Similarly, UK 14,304 (100 nM) promoted wound healing significantly at 2, 4, 6, 8,12 and 24 hours (Fig. 6B and 6C) (p <0.01). Pretreatment with a specific  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR antagonist (JP 1302; 100 nM) abolished the UK 14,304-induced cell migration both in transwell (Fig 6A) and scratch assays (Fig. 6B and 6C).

## A.



B.







Figure 6: UK 14,304 (100nM) increases SW480 migration via the activation of  $\alpha$ 2c-AR. (*A*) *Representative photomicrographs of the effect of 100 nM of UK 14,304 on SW480 migrating to the lower chamber in transwell migration assay.* (*B*) *Representative photomicrographs of the effect of 100 nM of UK 14,304 on SW480 scratch wound healing at 12 and 24 hours postscratch.* (*C*) *Mean* ± *SEM of distance migrated in* µm. *Values are and represented as mean* ± *SEM of four replicates.* \* *denotes* p < 0.05.

#### 2. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation induces RhoA translocation to the plasma membrane

There is overwhelming evidence that Rho GTPases play a central role in cell migration (63). To assess whether  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulates RhoA translocation to the membrane, SW480 cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 minutes. RhoA

translocation was determined by western blot analyses of membrane and cytosolic proteins. Results showed that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation induces RhoA translocation to the plasma membrane at 30 and 60 minutes significantly (Fig. 7A, 7B). This Rho activity was also evident by Rhotekin binding G-LISA activity assay (Fig. 7C). Moreover, this UK-induced Rho activity was inhibited by JP 1302 and PD98059 (20  $\mu$ M), an ERK1/2 inhibitor, indicating that alpha<sub>2c</sub> acts through ERK 1/2 to activate Rho (Fig. 7C).

## A.

	UK 14,304			
Ctrl	10	30	60	Cytosolic
_		_	-	Membranous

**B.** 





Figure 7 : SW480 cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 minutes. Cytosolic and membranous protein lysate were then subjected to Western blotting. (A) Western blot of cytosolic and membrane RhoA. (B) Histograms showing the quantitation of membranous RhoA/cytosolic Rho A. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SEM of three replicates. (C) Cells were treated with UK 14,304 and subjected to G-LISA for active Rho. \* denotes p<0.05 and \*\* <0.01

#### 3. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases ROS production and NADPH oxidases activity

Several reports indicate that cell migration or RhoA activation could be mediated by an increase in oxidative stress. To assess whether  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR stimulation increases ROS production, DHE staining was performed. Cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10 minutes followed by DHE staining. UK 14,304 significantly increased ROS production (Fig. 8A). Pretreatment with JP 1302 (100 nM) abolished the UK 14,304 – induced ROS production indicating that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR is responsible for the increase in oxidative stress (Fig. 8A). Treatment with UK 14,304 (100 nM) also increased NADPH oxidases activity (NOX1 and NOX4, which are important mediators of ROS production. Pretreatment with JP 1302 (100 nM) significantly decreased NADPH oxidases activity implicating a role for  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR in NOX 1/4 activation (Fig. 8B).

A.



**B.** 



Figure 8:  $\alpha 2c$ -AR stimulation increases ROS production NADPH oxidases activity. SW480 cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10 min and DHE staining (Fig. 8A) and NADPH oxidase activity (Fig. 8B) assays were performed. (A) UK 14,304 increases ROS production and this was abolished by pretreatment with JP1302. (B) UK 14,304 increases significantly NADPH oxidases activity and this was also abolished by JP 1302. Values are represented as the mean % change from the control  $\pm$  SEM of three replicates. \* denotes p < 0.05.

#### 4. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR induced oxidative stress induces migration

To assess whether the  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR-induced oxidative stress increases SW480 migration, a scratch assay was performed. SW480 cells were treated with  $\alpha_2$ -AR specific agonist (UK 14,304; 100 nM) in the absence or presence of JP 1302 (100 nM), GKT 137831 (20  $\mu$ M), a NOX 1/4 enzyme inhibitor (;), or, ROS Scavenger (N-acetyl cysteine NAC; 12.5 mM). Results show that UK 14,304 significantly increases SW480 migration. Pretreatment with JP 1302, NAC, or GKT 137831 abolished this effect. This indicates that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR induced oxidative stress increases migration (Fig. 9).



Figure 9:  $\alpha 2c$ -AR -induced oxidative stress increases migration of SW480 colon cancer cells. Scratch assay of SW480 cells that were pretreated with JP1302, NAC, and GKT 137831 followed by UK 14,304 was performed. Results show that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR increases migration through increased oxidative stress. Values are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of four replicates. All treatments are significantly different (p< 0.05) from UK 14,304 alone. \* denotes p < 0.05.

#### 5. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases ERK 1/2 and FAK activity

Because ERK1/2 and FAK are crucial in cell migration, we sought to determine the ERK1/2 and FAK phosphorylation levels. SW480 cells were treated with UK 14,304 (100 nM) for 10, 30, and 60 minutes. ERK 1/2 and FAK phosphorylation was assessed using western blot. UK 14,304 (100 nM) significantly increased the phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 (Fig. 10A, 10B) at 60 minutes (p<0.05). It is worth mentioning that our preliminary data show that in the presence of JP 1302, UK 14,304 fails to cause an appreciable increase in ERK 1/2. This suggests that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR is the mediator of UK-induced ERK 1/2 phosphorylation. Similarly, UK 14,304 increased FAK phosphorylation (Fig. 10C) which was abolished by JP 1302 (Fig. 10D). Moreover, pretreatment with PF-573228 (10  $\mu$ M), a FAK-specific inhibitor, or PD98059 (20  $\mu$ M), an ERK1/2 inhibitor, abolished UK-induced migration.





E.

Figure 10:  $\alpha$ 2c-AR stimulation increases ERK 1/2 and FAK activity which are crucial for migration. (A) Western Blot for ERK 1/2. (B) Histogram showing quantitation of phosphorylated ERK 1/2 / total ERK 1/2. (C,D) Western Blot for FAK. (E) Pretreatment with PF-573228 or PD98059 abolished UK-induced migration. Values are represented as the mean of fold change ± SEM of three independent experiments.

#### D. Adhesion, Transendothelial Migration, and Invasion

#### 1. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation promotes adhesion and transendothelial migration

UK 14,304 (3, 10, 30 and 100 nM) promoted the adhesion of colon cancer cells to TNF-alpha-activated HUVECs. At 100 nM, UK14,304 caused a  $325 \pm 73\%$  increase in adhesion (p<0.05) (Fig. 11A). After adhering to endothelial cells, cancer cells tend to modify the integrity of the endothelial barrier especially during intra or extravasation. Indeed, UK 14,304-caused a dramatic increase in transendothelial migration of SW480

through HUVECs. This increase was abolished by JP 1302, clearly indicating that  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR activation may promote transendothelial migration (Fig. 11B).



*Figure 11: α2c-AR stimulation increases adhesion and transendothelial migration. (A) Cells were loaded on top of TNF-alpha-activated HUVECs and adhesion was measured. (B) Cells that penetrated through an endothelial cell layer were measured.*

#### 2. $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression

Because breaking the endothelial cell barrier requires matrix digestion, we measured the levels of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). SW480 cells were incubated in serum-free media and pretreated with increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (0, 3, 10, 30, and 100 nM) for 24 and 48 hours. The conditioned media were collected and subjected to an ELISA for MMP-2 and MMP-9. Results show that UK 14,304 significantly increases MMP-9 (Fig. 12A) and MMP-2 (Fig. 12B) in a concentration and time-dependent manner.

For instance, UK 14,304 (10, 30 and 100 nM) significantly increase MMP-9 and MMP-2 expressions at 24 and 48 hours. Pretreatment with ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) (Fig. 12C) or JP 1302 (Fig. 12D) abolished the increase in MMP-2 indicating that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR and ERK1/2 are significant mediators of the increased production of MMPs (Fig 11c).

A. 500 24 hrs 48 hrs 400 MMP-9 (% vehicle) 300 200 100 0 veh 30 100 10 3 UK 14,304 (nM)

**B.** 



C.



D.



Figure 12 :  $\alpha$ 2C-AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions. UK 14,304 (10, 30, and 100 nM) increases MMP-9 and MMP-2 expressions significantly at 24 and 48 hours. (A) Histogram showing the quantitation of MMP-9 expression. (B) Histogram showing the quantitation of MMP-2 expression. (C) Histogram showing the quantitation of MMP-2 expression at 24 hours after pretreatment with JP1302. (D) Histogram showing the quantitation of MMP-2 expression at 24 hours after pretreatment with PD98095. Data represented are mean ± SEM of % MMP level in the corresponding vehicle control treatment (n = 3 replicates). \* denotes p<0.05 and \*\* <0.01

#### E. Angiogenesis

#### 1. *a*<sub>2C</sub>-AR stimulation increases VEGF expression

Since vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is essential for angiogenesis, we assessed the expression of VEGF following stimulation with UK14,304. SW480 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of UK 14,304 (0, 3, 10, 30, and 100 nM) and the conditioned media was collected at 24 and 48h. VEGF level was then measured using a VEGF enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit. UK 14,304 (100 nM) significantly increase VEGF expression at 24 hours, while UK 14,304 (30 and 100 nM) significantly increase VEGF expression at 48 hours (Fig. 13A) (p<0.01). Pretreatment with JP1302 abolished the increase in VEGF (Fig. 13B).



Figure 13:  $\alpha$ 2C-AR stimulation increases MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions. (A) Histogram showing the quantitation of VEGF expression. (B) Histogram showing the quantitation of VEGF expression at 24 hours after JP 1302 pretreatment. Data represented are mean  $\pm$  SEM of % MMP level in the corresponding vehicle control treatment (n = 3 replicates).

## CHAPTER IV DISCUSSION

Increasing evidence indicates that stress induces a wide variety of biological responses involved in cancer progression such as cellular proliferation, migration, invasion, and angiogenesis (11). Studies have shown that adrenoceptors, as mediators of stress, play a central role in promoting the malignant phenotype of CRC (49-53, 55-57). Interestingly, the role of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR in CRC malignancy remains obscure. This is the first study depicting the role of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR in enhancing the malignant phenotype in colorectal cancer. Our findings demonstrate that stimulation of  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR increases migration, adhesion, transendothelial migration, as well as invasion and angiogenesis markers, all of which are hallmarks of CRC malignancy.

Immunofluorescence staining revealed that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are expressed on the plasma membrane of SW480 human colon cancer cells. This is in discordance with vascular smooth muscle cells where  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are generally retained in the perinuclear *trans*-Golgi compartment (64). During stressful conditions, or in response to cold temperature,  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are mobilized to the cell surface, which leads to their functional activation (40, 64). Interestingly, when expressed on the cell surface,  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are resistant to phosphorylation by G-protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs), resulting in reduced interaction with βarrestin (65). Ultimately, this leads to decreased desensitization and internalization compared to other  $\alpha_2$ -ARs (65). In our study, treatment of SW480 cells with UK 14,304 for 60 minutes did not decrease the expression of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs on the plasma membrane compared to the control. Although the agonist, UK 14,304, was kept for 60 continuous minutes, the surface expression was not affected. This further validates the fact that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are resistant to desensitization.

Activation of  $\alpha_2$ -ARs did not cause a significant increase in proliferation of SW480 cells. This is in conflict with the literature in which  $\alpha_2$ -AR agonists induced cancer cell proliferation. For instance,  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor agonists, clonidine and dexmedetomidine, significantly enhanced proliferation of the mouse mammary tumor cell line MC4-L5 (66). Moreover, rauwolscine, an  $\alpha_2$ -AR antagonist, inhibited breast cancer proliferation (62). It has also been shown that the use of  $\alpha_2$ -AR antagonist, yohimbine, inhibited the proliferation of pancreatic cell lines by deregulating signal transduction pathways, potentially involving the MAPK, and induced their apoptosis (61). This suggests that  $\alpha_2$ adrenoceptor antagonist can be used as an anticancer drug for apoptosis of pancreatic cells (61). Contrary to our findings, Schaak et al. showed that UK 14,304 enhances proliferation of Caco2-3B when placed in medium containing trace amounts of growth factors (0.5% FCS) (67). However, no significant difference in cellular proliferation was observed in either the absence or presence of high concentrations of FCS (67). This suggests that  $\alpha_2$ -AR agonist may be inefficient in quiescent cells. As such, it acts on slowly growing cells, thus behaving as a co-mitogen on Caco2-3B cells (67). However, a growing body of evidence now suggests that decreased proliferation may be requisite for increased migration. As discussed below, activation of  $\alpha_2$ -AR caused a significant and robust increase in migration that was notable as early as 2 hours. Further studies are needed to better delineate the interplay between proliferation and migration. It would be critical to determine if increased

proliferation may prevent such increased migration, or at least that decreased proliferation may actually promote migration of certain cancer cells (68).

Cancer cell migration is a crucial step in metastasis. Our results demonstrated that activation of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR increases migration of colon cancer cells. Previous studies support the notion that the stimulation of adrenoceptors results in increased migratory capacity of colon cancer cells (50, 55, 56). The role of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs in CRC migration, however, remains poorly investigated. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study showing that stimulation of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs increases migration.

This increase in migratory capacity was concomitant with increased Rho activation, which was evident by the translocation of Rho from cytoplasm to the membrane, as well as via a Rhotekin-binding activation assay. Rho GTPases act as molecular switches, cycling between the GTP-bound active form and GDP-bound inactive form. The Rho subfamily consists of RhoA, RhoB, and RhoC proteins (69). It has been shown that RhoA and RhoC expressions are upregulated in human tumors, whereas RhoB expression is often dowregulated (69). There is overwhelming evidence that RhoA is involved in virtually all stages of cancer progression, including cancer cell proliferation, migration, invasion, evasion from apoptosis, and metastases (69). Cancer cells invade tissues via single cell migratory mechanisms, which include mesenchymal and amoeboid migration, or by collective cell migration. In mesenchymal migration, the cells are elongated, and ECM degradation is essential for movement. In amoeboid migration, cells are rounded, and movement is driven by actomyosin-based cortical contraction (69). It has been established that RhoA is important for both mesenchymal and amoeboid migration (69). Moreover, RhoA can regulate the release of MMPs, which affects matrix remodeling and tumor

invasion (69). Some reports also suggest that RhoA, RhoC, and the downstream target ROCK are required for cancer cell extravasation (69). Increasing evidence demonstrates that Rho proteins modulate actin polymerization, depolymerization, and activity of actinassociated myosins, which are all essential for cell migration (70). A recently published study shows that blocking the expression of RhoA in LoVo colon cancer cells transfected with pshRNA-RhoA decreased the migratory and invasive capabilities (71). Additionally, it was shown that RhoA is linked to the invasion of blood vessels and lymph nodes in colorectal cancer samples (72). It is noteworthy that patients who expressed higher levels of RhoA proteins had a markedly poorer 5-year survival rate after surgery (72). This indicates that RhoA may be considered as a marker of poor prognosis in CRC and may serve as a potential target for CRC treatment (72).

The induced Rho activation could be mediated by increased oxidative stress since  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increased NADPH oxidases activity and ROS production. A recently published study supports the notion that ROS in turn activates Rho/ROCK pathway (73). Reactive oxygen species are byproducts of aerobic metabolism. ROS include the superoxide anion (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), and hydroxyl radicals (OH<sup>-</sup>), which contribute to both physiological and pathological conditions (74). Importantly, Hurd *et al.* established the role of ROS in activating signaling pathways involved in cell migration and invasion (74). Redox signaling is initiated by the generation of ROS via NADPH oxidases in response to a stimulus, such as growth factors including tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), angiopoietin-1, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and extracellular matrix components. ROS then induces protein changes that are necessary for cellular migration. Once the stimulus is no longer present, ROS is

degraded, and homeostatic balance is restored (74, 75). Important targets of ROS during cell migration include modulators of receptor-tyrosine kinases (RTKs) such as protein kinase C (PKC) and protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs). Oxidation activates PKC, whereas it inactivates PTP. This allows RTK-induced activation of MAPK signaling pathway, which promotes tumor cell migration (76).

NADPH oxidases are a major source of ROS production. NADPH oxidase family consists of 7 members: Nox1 to Nox5 and the dual oxidases Duox1 and Duox2 (77). The major product of Nox4 and Duox is hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>); yet, some studies report that Nox4 also generates superoxide anion. Nox1-Nox3 and Nox5 produce superoxide anion  $(O_2^{-})$  (77). Accumulating evidence suggests that Nox proteins are overexpressed in a variety of cancer cells. Nox4 was shown to be highly expressed in gastric cancer (78) and lung cancer (79), whereas Nox1 was upregulated in pancreatic cancer (80) and colon cancer (80). Moreover, Nox5 appeared to be overexpressed in malignant melanomas (80). A recently published study established the role of Nox1 in colon cancer growth (81). Inhibition of Nox1 expression decreased ROS production and produced a G1 block in cell cycle progression. This block was associated with a decrease in phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathway enzymes, including ERK1/2, and a decrease in cyclin D1 (81). Moreover, Nox1 inhibition lead to a decrease in blood vessel growth, VEGF expression, and migration of HT-29 colon cancer cells (81). This suggests that Nox1 may serve as a potential target in CRC treatment (81). Remarkably, Nox1 was also revealed to be overexpressed in colon cancer with activating mutations in K-Ras (82). Indeed, 80 percent of tumors with K-Ras mutations displayed a twofold or greater increase in Nox1 mRNA compared to normal tissues (77). It has also been demonstrated that NADPH oxidases play

a critical role in allowing increased glycolysis in cancer cells. Cancer cells typically switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis for generation of energy. NADPH oxidases generate NAD+ substrate which is essential for the glycolytic pathway (83). Blocking NADPH oxidases would halt the glycolytic pathway resulting in suppression of tumor growth (83). Our results show that reducing oxidative stress, either through a ROS scavenger or a NOX1/4 dual enzyme inhibitor, leads to a significant decrease in migration of SW480 cells.

This study established that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and FAK, both of which are important for cell migration. Furthermore, we report here that inhibiting ERK1/2 or FAK significantly abolished  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR-induced migration. This is in line with several lines of evidence which established ERK1/2 phosphorylation is important for progression of colorectal cancer (84). Indeed, blocking ERK1/2 pathway decreases proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis of cancer cells (85). Moreover, RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK signaling pathway was shown to be over-activated in cancers with KRAS, NRAS, and BRAF mutations (86). FAK is a protein tyrosine kinase that is overexpressed in advanced cancers, including kidney, brain, lung, ovarian, cervical, pancreatic, colon, breast, and skin cancer (87). FAK expression was proved to be modulated via ERK1/2 signaling pathway (88). FAK activation promotes cancer progression and metastasis (87). Indeed, FAK inhibitors induces tumor cell apoptosis, reduced metastasis, and inhibited angiogenesis (87). In addition, inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation at the Y397 site of FAK decreases colon cancer cell viability (89).

Invasion is also an important hallmark in cancer progression. Here, we established that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increased the production of matrix metalloproteinases, key

mediators of extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation. In addition, inhibiting JP1302 abolished the observed MMP-2 increase, clearly implicating the  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR subtype. It has been shown that MMPs play a critical role in tumor progression, including angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis (90). Many CRC studies revealed a strong association between MMP-2 and MMP-9 levels and worse CRC prognosis (90). For instance, MMP-9 expression was higher in CRC patients having lymph node metastasis (90). Intriguingly, a study postulated that serum MMPs may be used as markers for CRC invasion with a greater sensitivity than carcinoembryonic antigen and CA19-9, two biomarkers currently used in clinical practice (91). Moreover, it has been established that upregulation of MMP-2 and MMP-9 may be mediated through the activation of MAPKK, such as ERK1/2 (92). This is in line with our findings where PD98095, a MAPKK inhibitor, decreases  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR- induced MMP-2 expression.

Angiogenesis is an essential step in cancer progression. Our findings demonstrate that  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR stimulation increases VEGF expression. Previous studies have shown that VEGF is highly expressed in approximately 50 % of CRC patients with minimal or no expression in normal colonic mucosa (93). Moreover, VEGF expression was higher in late CRC stages compared to early stages (93). Thus, VEGF may be considered a valuable prognostic factor in CRC (93). Another study revealed that Nox1 played a critical role in Ras-induced upregulation of VEGF expression and angiogenesis (94).

This study dissected the signaling pathway of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR-induced CRC malignancy. Stimulation  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR activates ERK 1/2, FAK, and NOX, increases VEGF, MMP-2, and MMP-9 expression, and induces RhoA translocation to the membrane (Fig. 14). These

proteins together promote CRC malignancy by increasing migration, invasion, and angiogenesis.



*Figure 14: The proposed signaling pathway of*  $\alpha_{2C}$ *-AR-induced CRC malignancy* 

## CONCLUSION

This is the first study to reveal the importance of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR in enhancing the malignant phenotype in colorectal cancer. Our findings show that stimulation of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR increased migration, invasion, adhesion, transendothelial migration, and angiogenesis, thus potentiating the malignant phenotype of human colon cancer cells. Therefore,  $\alpha_{2c}$ -AR may represent a novel target in the treatment of CRC.

### LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In this study, we only used SW480 human colon cancer cell line. Therefore, our ongoing and future studies will focus on the role of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs in promoting CRC malignancy in a battery of cell lines including ones that represent advanced stage colorectal cancer cell lines such as SW620, HT-29, LoVo, and HCT-116. However, it will be imperative that we first determine if  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs are expressed in these cell lines. We only used a pharmacological agonist of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR. Future studies will also dissect the role of the natural agonist, epinephrine, in modulating the migratory capacity of these cells. Another limitation is the fact that we did not study the role of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs in *in vivo* tumorigenesis. Therefore, an *in vivo* model will be established to mimic the biological process of CRC progression. Cells stably transfected with  $\alpha_{2C}$ -ARs will be utilized in an orthotopic animal model of CRC. This would allow the prediction of clinical outcomes of  $\alpha_{2C}$ -AR antagonists in CRC malignancy.

## REFERENCES

 1.
 Cancer
 2017
 [Available
 from:

 http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/

2. Key Statistics for Colorectal Cancer 2017 [Available from: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/colon-rectal-cancer/about/key-statistics.html.

.

3. Akkoca AN, Yanik S, Ozdemir ZT, Cihan FG, Sayar S, Cincin TG, et al. TNM and Modified Dukes staging along with the demographic characteristics of patients with colorectal carcinoma. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7(9):2828-35.

4. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2017. Atlanta, Ga: American Cancer Society 2017 [

5. NCCN guidelines. Colorectal Cancer Screening. Version 1.2017 2017 [Available from: https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/colorectal\_screening.pdf.

6. Saif MW, Reardon J. Management of oxaliplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2005;1(4):249-58.

Harari PM. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition strategies in oncology.
 Endocr Relat Cancer. 2004;11(4):689-708.

8. Bodnar RJ. Epidermal Growth Factor and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor: The Yin and Yang in the Treatment of Cutaneous Wounds and Cancer. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle). 2013;2(1):24-9. 9. Markman B, Javier Ramos F, Capdevila J, Tabernero J. EGFR and KRAS in colorectal cancer. Adv Clin Chem. 2010;51:71-119.

10. Falchook GS, Kurzrock R. VEGF and dual-EGFR inhibition in colorectal cancer. Cell Cycle. 2015;14(8):1129-30.

11. Zhao L, Xu J, Liang F, Li A, Zhang Y, Sun J. Effect of Chronic Psychological Stress on Liver Metastasis of Colon Cancer in Mice. PLoS One. 2015;10(10):e0139978.

12. Valderrama-Trevino AI, Barrera-Mera B, Ceballos-Villalva JC, Montalvo-Jave EE. Hepatic Metastasis from Colorectal Cancer. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2017;7(2):166-75.

13. Haggar FA, Boushey RP. Colorectal cancer epidemiology: incidence, mortality, survival, and risk factors. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2009;22(4):191-7.

14. Larsson SC, Wolk A. Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(11):2657-64.

15. Ajouz H, Mukherji D, Shamseddine A. Secondary bile acids: an underrecognized cause of colon cancer. World J Surg Oncol. 2014;12:164.

16. Zisman A, Nickolov A, Brand R, Gorchow A, Roy H. Associations between the age at diagnosis and location of colorectal cancer and the use of alcohol and tobacco: implications for screening. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(629-34).

17. Chao A, Thun MJ, Jacobs EJ, Henley SJ, Rodriguez C, Calle EE. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality in the cancer prevention study II. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(23):1888-96.

18. Fedirko V, Tramacere I, Bagnardi V, Rota M, Scotti L, Islami F, et al. Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer risk: an overall and dose-response meta-analysis of published studies. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(9):1958-72.

19. Jeanne Segal MS, Robert Segal, Lawrence Robinson. Stress Symptoms, Signs, and Causes Improving Your Ability to Handle Stress 2017 [Available from: <u>https://www.swslhd.health.nsw.gov.au/Carers/content/pdf/Carerwellbeing/stress-</u>

symptoms-signs-and-causes.pdf.

20. Stojanovich L. Stress and autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. 2010;9(5):A271-6.

21. Spruill TM. Chronic psychosocial stress and hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010;12(1):10-6.

22. Kalantaridou SN, Makrigiannakis A, Zoumakis E, Chrousos GP. Stress and the female reproductive system. J Reprod Immunol. 2004;62(1-2):61-8.

23. McGrady AV. Effects of psychological stress on male reproduction: a review. Arch Androl. 1984;13(1):1-7.

24. Chiriac VF, Baban A, Dumitrascu DL. Psychological stress and breast cancer incidence: a systematic review. Clujul Med. 2018;91(1):18-26.

25. Surman M, Janik ME. Stress and its molecular consequences in cancer progression. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online). 2017;71(0):485-99.

26. Moreno-Smith M, Lutgendorf SK, Sood AK. Impact of stress on cancer metastasis. Future Oncol. 2010;6(12):1863-81.

27. Hieble J. Adrenergic Receptors. Elsevier. 2009:135-9.
28. Strosberg AD. Structure, function, and regulation of adrenergic receptors. Protein Sci. 1993;2(8):1198-209.

29. Philipp M, Brede M, Hein L. Physiological significance of alpha(2)-adrenergic receptor subtype diversity: one receptor is not enough. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2002;283(2):R287-95.

30. Cotecchia S. The alpha1-adrenergic receptors: diversity of signaling networks and regulation. J Recept Signal Transduct Res. 2010;30(6):410-9.

31. Lin RZ, Chen J, Hu ZW, Hoffman BB. Phosphorylation of the cAMP response elementbinding protein and activation of transcription by alpha1 adrenergic receptors. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(45):30033-8.

32. Piascik MT, Perez DM. Alpha1-adrenergic receptors: new insights and directions. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2001;298(2):403-10.

33. Hu ZW, Shi XY, Lin RZ, Hoffman BB. Alpha1 adrenergic receptors activate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Role in mitogenesis. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(15):8977-82.

34. Han C, Bowen WC, Michalopoulos GK, Wu T. Alpha-1 adrenergic receptor transactivates signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (Stat3) through activation of Src and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in hepatocytes. J Cell Physiol. 2008;216(2):486-97.

35. Landzberg JS, Parker JD, Gauthier DF, Colucci WS. Effects of myocardial alpha 1adrenergic receptor stimulation and blockade on contractility in humans. Circulation. 1991;84(4):1608-14.

36. Siess W, Lapetina EG. Platelet aggregation induced by alpha 2-adrenoceptor and protein kinase C activation. A novel synergism. Biochem J. 1989;263(2):377-85.

37. Aburto TK, Lajoie C, Morgan KG. Mechanisms of signal transduction during alpha 2adrenergic receptor-mediated contraction of vascular smooth muscle. Circ Res. 1993;72(4):778-85.

38. Hamamdzic D, Duzic E, Sherlock JD, Lanier SM. Regulation of alpha 2-adrenergic receptor expression and signaling in pancreatic beta-cells. Am J Physiol. 1995;269(1 Pt 1):E162-71.

39. Altman JD, Trendelenburg AU, MacMillan L, Bernstein D, Limbird L, Starke K, et al. Abnormal regulation of the sympathetic nervous system in alpha2A-adrenergic receptor knockout mice. Mol Pharmacol. 1999;56(1):154-61.

40. Jeyaraj SC, Chotani MA, Mitra S, Gregg HE, Flavahan NA, Morrison KJ. Cooling evokes redistribution of alpha2C-adrenoceptors from Golgi to plasma membrane in transfected human embryonic kidney 293 cells. Mol Pharmacol. 2001;60(6):1195-200.

41. Bailey SR, Eid AH, Mitra S, Flavahan S, Flavahan NA. Rho kinase mediates coldinduced constriction of cutaneous arteries: role of alpha2C-adrenoceptor translocation. Circ Res. 2004;94(10):1367-74.

42. Taylor MR. Pharmacogenetics of the human beta-adrenergic receptors. Pharmacogenomics J. 2007;7(1):29-37.

43. Osborn JL, DiBona GF, Thames MD. Beta-1 receptor mediation of renin secretion elicited by low-frequency renal nerve stimulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1981;216(2):265-

9.

44. Barisione G, Baroffio M, Crimi E, Brusasco V. Beta-Adrenergic Agonists. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2010;3(4):1016-44.

45. Schafers RF, Adler S, Daul A, Zeitler G, Vogelsang M, Zerkowski HR, et al. Positive inotropic effects of the beta 2-adrenoceptor agonist terbutaline in the human heart: effects of long-term beta 1-adrenoceptor antagonist treatment. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1994;23(5):1224-33.

46. Philipson LH. beta-Agonists and metabolism. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2002;110(6 Suppl):S313-7.

47. Cannavo A, Koch WJ. Targeting beta3-Adrenergic Receptors in the Heart: Selective Agonism and beta-Blockade. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2017;69(2):71-8.

48. Weems WA, Szurszewski JH. An intracellular analysis of some intrinsic factors controlling neural output from inferior mesenteric ganglion of guinea pigs. J Neurophysiol. 1978;41(2):305-21.

49. Lin Q, Wang F, Yang R, Zheng X, Gao H, Zhang P. Effect of chronic restraint stress on human colorectal carcinoma growth in mice. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61435.

50. Wong HP, Ho JW, Koo MW, Yu L, Wu WK, Lam EK, et al. Effects of adrenaline in human colon adenocarcinoma HT-29 cells. Life Sci. 2011;88(25-26):1108-12.

51. Chin CC, Li JM, Lee KF, Huang YC, Wang KC, Lai HC, et al. Selective beta2-AR Blockage Suppresses Colorectal Cancer Growth Through Regulation of EGFR-Akt/ERK1/2 Signaling, G1-Phase Arrest, and Apoptosis. J Cell Physiol. 2016;231(2):459-72.

52. Harris DA, Park JM, Lee KS, Xu C, Stella N, Hague C. Label-Free Dynamic Mass Redistribution Reveals Low-Density, Prosurvival alpha1B-Adrenergic Receptors in Human SW480 Colon Carcinoma Cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2017;361(2):219-28.

53. Pu J, Bai D, Yang X, Lu X, Xu L, Lu J. Adrenaline promotes cell proliferation and increases chemoresistance in colon cancer HT29 cells through induction of miR-155. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;428(2):210-5.

54. Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1420-8.

55. Zhang J, Deng YT, Liu J, Wang YQ, Yi TW, Huang BY, et al. Norepinephrine induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in HT-29 and A549 cells in vitro. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016;142(2):423-35.

56. Masur K, Niggemann B, Zanker KS, Entschladen F. Norepinephrine-induced migration of SW 480 colon carcinoma cells is inhibited by beta-blockers. Cancer Res. 2001;61(7):2866-9.

57. Liu J, Deng GH, Zhang J, Wang Y, Xia XY, Luo XM, et al. The effect of chronic stress on anti-angiogenesis of sunitinib in colorectal cancer models. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;52:130-42.

58. Iseri OD, Sahin FI, Terzi YK, Yurtcu E, Erdem SR, Sarialioglu F. beta-Adrenoreceptor antagonists reduce cancer cell proliferation, invasion, and migration. Pharm Biol. 2014;52(11):1374-81.

59. Engineer DR, Burney BO, Hayes TG, Garcia JM. Exposure to ACEI/ARB and beta-Blockers Is Associated with Improved Survival and Decreased Tumor Progression and Hospitalizations in Patients with Advanced Colon Cancer. Transl Oncol. 2013;6(5):539-45.

60. Jansen L, Hoffmeister M, Arndt V, Chang-Claude J, Brenner H. Stage-specific associations between beta blocker use and prognosis after colorectal cancer. Cancer. 2014;120(8):1178-86.

61. Shen SG, Zhang D, Hu HT, Li JH, Wang Z, Ma QY. Effects of alpha-adrenoreceptor antagonists on apoptosis and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells in vitro. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(15):2358-63.

62. Perez Pinero C, Bruzzone A, Sarappa MG, Castillo LF, Luthy IA. Involvement of alpha2- and beta2-adrenoceptors on breast cancer cell proliferation and tumour growth regulation. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;166(2):721-36.

63. Ridley AJ. Rho GTPase signalling in cell migration. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2015;36:103-12.

64. Jeyaraj SC, Unger NT, Eid AH, Mitra S, Paul El-Dahdah N, Quilliam LA, et al. Cyclic AMP-Rap1A signaling activates RhoA to induce alpha(2c)-adrenoceptor translocation to the cell surface of microvascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2012;303(5):C499-511.

Chotani MA, Flavahan NA. Intracellular alpha(2C)-adrenoceptors: storage depot, stunted development or signaling domain? Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1813(8):1495-503.
Bruzzone A, Pinero CP, Castillo LF, Sarappa MG, Rojas P, Lanari C, et al. Alpha2-adrenoceptor action on cell proliferation and mammary tumour growth in mice. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;155(4):494-504.

67. Schaak S, Cussac D, Cayla C, Devedjian JC, Guyot R, Paris H, et al. Alpha(2) adrenoceptors regulate proliferation of human intestinal epithelial cells. Gut. 2000;47(2):242-50.

68. Evdokimova V, Tognon C, Ng T, Sorensen PH. Reduced proliferation and enhanced migration: two sides of the same coin? Molecular mechanisms of metastatic progression by YB-1. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(18):2901-6.

69. Vega FM, Ridley AJ. Rho GTPases in cancer cell biology. FEBS Lett. 2008;582(14):2093-101.

70. Ridley AJ. Rho GTPases and cell migration. J Cell Sci. 2001;114(Pt 15):2713-22.

71. Wang M, Wang XJ, Liu BR. Effect of shRNA targeted against RhoA on proliferation and migration of human colonic cancer cells. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015;8(6):7040-4.

72. Jeong D, Park S, Kim H, Kim CJ, Ahn TS, Bae SB, et al. RhoA is associated with invasion and poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Int J Oncol. 2016;48(2):714-22.

73. Fardoun MM, Nassif J, Issa K, Baydoun E, Eid AH. Raynaud's Phenomenon: A Brief Review of the Underlying Mechanisms. Front Pharmacol. 2016;7:438.

74. Hurd TR, DeGennaro M, Lehmann R. Redox regulation of cell migration and adhesion. Trends Cell Biol. 2012;22(2):107-15.

75. Tochhawng L, Deng S, Pervaiz S, Yap CT. Redox regulation of cancer cell migration and invasion. Mitochondrion. 2013;13(3):246-53.

76. Wu WS. The signaling mechanism of ROS in tumor progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2006;25(4):695-705.

77. Meitzler JL, Antony S, Wu Y, Juhasz A, Liu H, Jiang G, et al. NADPH oxidases: a perspective on reactive oxygen species production in tumor biology. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2014;20(17):2873-89.

78. Tang CT, Lin XL, Wu S, Liang Q, Yang L, Gao YJ, et al. NOX4-driven ROS formation regulates proliferation and apoptosis of gastric cancer cells through the GLI1 pathway. Cell Signal. 2018;46:52-63.

79. Han M, Zhang T, Yang L, Wang Z, Ruan J, Chang X. Association between NADPH oxidase (NOX) and lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Dis. 2016;8(7):1704-11.

80. Roy K, Wu Y, Meitzler JL, Juhasz A, Liu H, Jiang G, et al. NADPH oxidases and cancer. Clin Sci (Lond). 2015;128(12):863-75.

81. Juhasz A, Markel S, Gaur S, Liu H, Lu J, Jiang G, et al. NADPH oxidase 1 supports proliferation of colon cancer cells by modulating reactive oxygen species-dependent signal transduction. J Biol Chem. 2017;292(19):7866-87.

82. Laurent E, McCoy JW, 3rd, Macina RA, Liu W, Cheng G, Robine S, et al. Nox1 is overexpressed in human colon cancers and correlates with activating mutations in K-Ras. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(1):100-7.

83. Lu W, Hu Y, Chen G, Chen Z, Zhang H, Wang F, et al. Novel role of NOX in supporting aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells with mitochondrial dysfunction and as a potential target for cancer therapy. PLoS Biol. 2012;10(5):e1001326.

84. Fang JY, Richardson BC. The MAPK signalling pathways and colorectal cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6(5):322-7.

85. Kohno M, Pouyssegur J. Targeting the ERK signaling pathway in cancer therapy. Ann Med. 2006;38(3):200-11.

86. Samatar AA, Poulikakos PI. Targeting RAS-ERK signalling in cancer: promises and challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2014;13(12):928-42.

87. Yoon H, Dehart JP, Murphy JM, Lim ST. Understanding the roles of FAK in cancer: inhibitors, genetic models, and new insights. J Histochem Cytochem. 2015;63(2):114-28.

88. Calvo N, Carriere P, Martin MJ, Gentili C. RSK activation via ERK modulates human colon cancer cells response to PTHrP. J Mol Endocrinol. 2017;59(1):13-27.

89. Heffler M, Golubovskaya VM, Dunn KM, Cance W. Focal adhesion kinase autophosphorylation inhibition decreases colon cancer cell growth and enhances the efficacy of chemotherapy. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14(8):761-72.

90. Said AH, Raufman JP, Xie G. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in colorectal cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2014;6(1):366-75.

91. Dragutinovic VV, Radonjic NV, Petronijevic ND, Tatic SB, Dimitrijevic IB, Radovanovic NS, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and -9 (MMP-9) in preoperative serum as independent prognostic markers in patients with colorectal cancer. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;355(1-2):173-8.

92. Wang Y, Wu N, Pang B, Tong D, Sun D, Sun H, et al. TRIB1 promotes colorectal cancer cell migration and invasion through activation MMP-2 via FAK/Src and ERK pathways. Oncotarget. 2017;8(29):47931-42.

93. Bendardaf R, Buhmeida A, Hilska M, Laato M, Syrjanen S, Syrjanen K, et al. VEGF-1 expression in colorectal cancer is associated with disease localization, stage, and long-term disease-specific survival. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(6B):3865-70.

94. Komatsu D, Kato M, Nakayama J, Miyagawa S, Kamata T. NADPH oxidase 1 plays a critical mediating role in oncogenic Ras-induced vascular endothelial growth factor expression. Oncogene. 2008;27(34):4724-32.